1957

Maude Cox Peterson v. Joseph Nielson : Brief of Plaintiff and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from the judgment of the District Court of Sanpete County, sitting without a jury, the Honorable L. Leland Larson, presiding. The subject matter of this case arises from a collision between an automobile driven by appellant, with a pickup truck driven by respondent, at the junction of U. S. Highway 89 with a county road known as Shumway Road. The trial court found that the collision was caused by the concurring negligence of defendant and plaintiff, and denied recovery upon plain-

tiff's complaint, and upon defendant's counterclaim. From the judgment of the trial court denying plaintiff's right of recovery this appeal is taken. In appellant's Statement of Facts, direct reference will be made to the record, in those cases where we believe the facts are supported by the evidence. Where we believe claimed facts are not supported by the evidence, reference will be made to the transcript.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

U. S. Highway 89 is an arterial highway and extends in a general north and south direction between Ephraim, Utah, and Manti, Utah (R. 35). Approximately 1.1 mile south of Ephraim, Utah, a public road known as Shumway Road, extends in an east and west direction, enters U. S. Highway 89 from the west (R. 34, 35). At the junction of U. S. Highway 89 and Shumway Road, U. S. Highway 89 is hard surfaced with a good grade of asphalt 18 feet in width, and has shoulders extending 5 or 6 feet on either side (R. 35). Shumway Road is a graveled road 26 feet in width. There is a stop sign on Shumway Road approximately 39 feet west of the west edge of the asphalt surface of U. S. Highway 89 (R. 35).

On April 5, 1955, at approximately 5:15 o'clock p. m., plaintiff was driving her 1955 model red-bodied DeSoto automobile south on U. S. Highway 89, at a speed of approximately 50 to 52 miles per hour (Tr. 23, 75). When plaintiff was between 1000 and 900 feet north of the junction of Shumway Road, she observed defendant's truck proceeding easterly on Shumway Road (R. 36). Plaintiff applied her brakes, thereby decreasing the speed of her automobile, and continued to do so until defendant's truck stopped near the west edge of the paved portion of

U. S. Highway 89, at which time plaintiff was between 400 and 500 feet north of defendant's truck (R. 36, Tr. 24). Plaintiff kept defendant's truck in view at all times from the time she first observed it until defendant's truck stopped (Tr. 57, 58). After plaintiff observed defendant's truck stop, she then resumed her speed (R. 36,) of approximately 50 miles per hour (Tr. 69). Although defendant proceeded past the stop sign without stopping, he did come to a complete stop about 6 to 10 feet west of the west edge of the paved portion of U. S. Highway 89 (R. 36). During the same time, a car driven by Yvonne Holbrook was traveling north in the north bound lane on U. S. Highway 89, followed by a heavily loaded truck driven by Elliott Johnson (R. 36). The Holbrook car passed the plaintiff's car going in opposite directions on U. S. Highway 89 at a point approximately 75 feet to 100 feet north of the entrance of Shumway Road (R. 36). At the same time the truck driven by Elliott Johnson was at a point approximately 15/100 mile (792 feet) south of the entrance of Shumway Road (R. 36). Plaintiff observed someone (defendant) in defendant's truck when defendant stopped, but she could not ascertain in which direction he was looking (Tr. 39, 40). When plaintiff was 50 to 75 feet north of the entrance to Shumway Road, defendant drove his truck into the south bound lane of U. S. Highway 89 directly into the path of plaintiff's car (Tr. 27). The speed of plaintiff's car immediately prior to the collision was approximately 50 miles per hour (Tr. 69). Plaintiff immediately applied the brakes on her automobile (R. 36, Tr. 27). Plaintiff's car left tire skid marks on the highway for a distance of 41 to 45 feet to a point at which the plaintiff's car struck the defendant's truck (R. 36). The

front wheels of defendant's truck were on the paved portion of U. S. Highway 89, three feet east of the west edge thereof when the collision occurred (R. 36, 37). The impact caused plaintiff's car to veer to the left on U. S. Highway 89, and left tire skid marks on said highway for a distance of 57 to 64 feet from the point of impact to its place of rest (R. 37). The force of the impact injured plaintiff, and substantially damaged her car (R. 37). Defendant was also injured and his truck was substantially damaged (R. 37). Plaintiff did not at any time prior to the collision sound her horn (R. 37). The brakes on plaintiff's automobile were good, the road was dry, it was daylight, and the weather was clear (R. 36). From the time plaintiff first saw defendant and from the time defendant stopped near the paved portion of U. S. Highway 89 the view of both plaintiff and defendant were unobstructed (R. 36).

On the basis of these facts, the trial court found plaintiff negligent and that her negligence contributed to, and was a part of the proximate cause of her injuries and damage to her automobile. Appellant contends that the judgment of the trial court in this respect is erroneous, and hereby seeks a reversal thereof.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE IS NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS TRAVELING AT A RATE OF SPEED IN EXCESS OF 60 MILES PER HOUR AT THE TIME DEFENDANT

DROVE HIS TRUCK ONTO U. S. HIGHWAY 89, INTO THE PATH OF PLAINTIFF'S CAR.

We are mindful of the principle that if there is any competent evidence to support the findings of the trial court, such findings will not be disturbed by this Court on appeal. We have made a careful search of the record and can find no competent evidence to support a finding that plaintiff was at any time material herein, traveling at a rate of speed in excess of 52 miles per hour. Plaintiff testified that her speed was around 50 miles per hour, just as she left Ephraim, Utah (Tr. 23). This was corroborated by the testimony of Wallace Tatton, a disinterested witness who was driving a truck south on U. S. Highway 89, just south of the city limits of Ephraim, Utah, when plaintiff passed him (Tr. 74). When plaintiff passed Mr. Tatton, his speed was approximately 40 miles per hour, and it was his judgment that plaintiff was going 10 to 12 miles per hour faster (Tr. 75). The plaintiff testified that after she slowed down and defendant stopped, and she resumed her speed, she did not exceed her previous speed of 50 miles per hour (Tr. 69). This was again corroborated by the testimony of Wallace Tatton, who testified that after plaintiff had passed him, she did not accelerate or gain greater speed than when she was passing him (Tr. 75). Plaintiff unequivocally testified that her speed was around 50 miles per hour just prior to the impact (Tr. 69).

There were only four other witnesses who were in viewing distance of the collision at the time it happened. Those persons were the defendant, Joseph Nielson, Yvonne Holbrook, Elliott Johnson, and Etta Johnson. The defendant, Joseph Nielson, could make no observation of plain-

tiff's speed, since he didn't even see plaintiff's car (Tr. 286, 291, 333). The witness Yvonne Holbrook observed plaintiff's car approaching on U. S. Highway 89, but she gave no testimony with respect to the speed of plaintiff's car. The witness, Elliott Johnson, who observed the collision (Tr. 121) was driving a heavily loaded truck north on U. S. Highway 89, and was south of Shumway Road 15/100 of a mile (792 feet), at the time of the collision (R. 36, Tr. 126). He gave no testimony with respect to the speed of plaintiff's car.

The witness Etta Johnson was a passenger in the front seat of the Holbrook automobile (Tr. 196). She gave no direct testimony of the speed of plaintiff's automobile. Her testimony was that she first observed plaintiff's automobile when the Holbrook car was 200 feet south of Shumway Road (Tr. 197). She testified that at that moment the plaintiff's automobile was in the approximate location of the two white posts designated at points number 3 and 4 of defendant's Exhibit Number 2, which she estimated to be 1000 feet north of Shumway Road (Tr. 203). She then testified that the Holbrook automobile passed plaintiff's automobile when both automobiles were approximately 150 to 200 feet north of Shumway Road (Tr. 198). Apparently the defendant intended to establish by such testimony that the plaintiff's automobile traveled a distance of 800 to 850 feet during the same interval of time which the Holbrook automobile traveled 350 to 400 feet. The Holbrook automobile during such interval, was traveling at a rate of 50 to 55 miles per hour (R. 35, Tr. 12, 203). A computation based upon the extremes of the foregoing, would indicate that the speed of plaintiff's automobile was between 100 to 133 miles per hour. Mrs. Johnson also

testified it could be that the plaintiff was going four times as fast as the Holbrook automobile, i. e. 200 to 220 miles per hour, which, of course, is preposterous (Tr. 203).

Such inferences and statements by this witness are speculative and are solely based upon conjecture. It is clear from the record that her judgment and concept of distances are grossly exaggerated and erroneous. For example, Mrs. Johnson testified that in her judgment it was 200 feet from where she was sitting in the courtroom to a certain red brick house in front of which there was a new pickup truck (Tr. 207, 208). The same distance was paced off by a Deputy Sheriff, Park Miner, and was actually found to be in excess of 549 feet (Tr. 325).

It is obvious that the testimony of Mrs. Johnson is based upon such gross misjudgment of distances that it would not be entitled to any weight whatsoever. Although we cannot tell with certainty what weight, if any, the trial court gave to her testimony, it appears that no credence was given it at all. This is apparent from the court making a finding that the Holbrook automobile and the plaintiff's automobile passed each other when the Holbrook automobile was 75 to 100 feet north from defendant's truck (R. 36). Mrs. Johnson testified to the very same distance as being 150 to 200 feet (Tr. 198).

If, however, we are in error, and the findings of the trial court that plaintiff was traveling at a rate of speed in excess of 60 miles per hour was based upon the testimony of Mrs. Johnson, we submit that such finding cannot stand. Such a finding cannot be based on mere speculation or conjecture, but must be based on the preponderance of the evidence. *Alvarado vs. Tucker, et al*, 2 Utah 2d 16, 268 P. 2d 986. There must be competent, credible

evidence to support the findings made by the trial court. Jensen vs. Gerrard, 85 Utah 481, 39 P. 2d 1070; Buckley vs .Cox, 122 Utah 151, 247 P. 2d 277. The testimony of Mrs. Johnson could not by any stretch of the imagination be considered competent and credible. It was the duty of the trial court as the trier of the fact to completely disregard such evidence. The only other testimony relating to the speed of plaintiff's automobile was that of Dr. H. Reed Christensen. The testimony of Dr. Christensen falls in the same category as that of Mrs. Johnson. The trial court permitted Dr. Christensen to give his opinion upon a hypothetical question supposedly encompassing the facts of this case. His opinion was that the speed of plaintiff's car was between 63 and 85 miles per hour. We presume that this opinion was the basis of the finding of the trial court that plaintiff was traveling at a speed in excess of 60 miles per hour, since the record is devoid of any other evidence to support such a finding.

We submit that the opinion of Dr. Christensen was incompetent, irrelevant, and immaterial, and it was error for the trial court to admit such evidence over the objection of plaintiff, if such evidence were admitted. As a matter of fact, we are unable to determine from the record whether the opinions of Dr. Christensen were even admitted as evidence. When the witness was asked for his opinion as to the speed of plaintiff's automobile prior to the impact, we strongly objected (Tr. 245, 246, 247, 248). In ruling on the objection, the trial court stated, "Well, I don't think he could get into any court but this one." Then the court asked the witness for his opinion on how quick a car can stop that is traveling 50 miles per hour on an open highway under laid cement, assuming there was

no car in front of him, and no obstructions (Tr. 248). The witness answered, "Well, all I could do there is take what the State Engineer says", referring to the card marked Defendant's Exhibit 6 (Tr. 247). On page 249 of the transcript the court, acting as the interrogator, asked the witness, "What did you get on that? I won't accept it as evidence, but I would like to hear you." We then moved that all of the testimony of Dr. Christensen be stricken (Tr. 256). The trial court ruled, "I'm not going to admit it except for what it is worth." Again on page 257 of the transcript, the trial court stated, "I don't consider it a proper interrogatory under all the circumstances I will just have to use it for its worth". On page 258 of the transcript, the court stated: "Well, I won't accept it as a hypothetical question at all." All of the foregoing statements by the trial court would lead us to believe that the testimony of Dr. Christensen was not admitted as evidence. However, when the trial court made its finding that plaintiff was traveling at a rate of speed in excess of 60 miles per hour, we must assume that the testimony of Dr. Christensen was considered. If such testimony was considered, we submit that it was prejudicial error by the trial court to do so.

The only basis upon which Dr. Christensen could testify was by giving his opinion in response to the hypothetical question. Dr. Christensen was not an eye witness to the collision, he observed no skid marks relative to the collision, and he never saw the defendant's truck, or pictures of it, even before or after the collision (Tr. 256). Although the question of whether a witness is qualified to give an opinion generally rests with discretion of the trial court, the record clearly shows that Dr. Christensen was

not qualified to give an opinion of the speed of plaintiff's automobile immediately prior to the collision. On voir dire examination he admitted that he had never before calculated speed of automobiles from skid marks involved in collisions (Tr. 242). He made some experiments on measuring coefficient of friction, and did some experimentation in the theory of the subject (Tr. 242). He could not express an opinion on how quickly an automobile could stop under certain conditions, but could only testify as to the corresponding figure shown on the Utah Highway Patrol chart (Defendant's Exhibit 6, which strangely enough was admitted in evidence only to illustrate the testimony of the witness (Tr. 244, 245). The only qualifications shown was that the witness holds a degree of Doctor of Physics, (Tr. 241), has been a teacher of physics for 28 to 30 years, and did some special work for the government in physics during the war from 1942 to 1946 (Tr. 243). We objected to his qualifications (Tr. 243). We submit that it was an abuse of discretion of the trial court to permit him to testify as an expert in the application of impact and momentum theories to automobiles. We strongly contend that the testimony of Dr. Christensen insofar as it related to the speed of plaintiff's automobile was wholly incompetent.

There is some confusion among the adjudicated cases of the extent to which experts who are not eye witnesses to the collision may be permitted to give an opinion. Although it is well settled in Utah that the use of tire marks of a skidding automobile is used as the basis for expert testimony (State v. Lingman, 97 Utah 180, 91 P. 2d 457), we have grave doubt about such rule being scientifically sound. In this connection we respectfully call the Court's attention to the excellent book entitled, "Tire Dynamics", by

Andrew J. White, First Edition, published by Motor Vehicle Research, Inc., which is a comprehensive experimentation in the field of tire marks and their relationship to vehicle velocity prior to brake application. On page 62 thereof, the following statement is made:

“The measurement of physical marks with a measuring tape is one method generally used by police and others in an effort to relate tire mark length to vehicle velocity prior to brake application. While this method is an acceptable one for measurement, it accomplishes just one thing, namely the length of tire marks. When the information gathered is used in an attempt to establish even the minimum speed, the vehicle must have been traveling, the number of variables involving road surface differentials, tires, atmospheric temperature, time of year and others, render almost any estimation of speed invalid.”

The author then gives numerous reasons to support the foregoing statement.

The case of State vs. Lingman, cited above, goes further than any other case we have examined in permitting the expert testimony as to the speed of automobiles, based on a hypothetical question. We believe that the admonitions expressed by Chief Justice Wolfe therein, are very pertinent to the case at bar. To begin with, in the Lingman case objections were raised to the qualifications of the expert, who was a professor in the Department of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Utah, and had been teaching there for over 35 years; whether this qualified him was left up to the trial court. The professor testified that the loss of impact of bodies were applicable to automobiles, whereas in the instant case Dr. Christensen had nothing to say on this point.

Secondly, the witness (in the Lingman case) based his opinion on a formula which included only the purely physical facts of directions of the two cars, and their weights, the points of impact, the coefficient of restitution, the frictional resistance of the surface over which the struck car was pushed, and the distance of the sideward movement in the struck car. A comparison of the factors employed in the hypothetical question in the Lingman case with those of the instant case shows that the latter was so lacking in so many material physical facts that any opinion based thereon would be of no value whatsoever. For example, in the instant case, the question made no reference to the coefficient of restitution, although the witness assumed an elastic impact. The question made no mention of the speed or momentum of defendant's truck, and the witness did not take into consideration the speed of the truck (Tr. 250), although the truck was in motion at the time of impact (Tr. 27, 123). The witness assumed that all of the energy which propelled the defendant's truck was transferred from plaintiff's car (Tr. 255), yet there was no evidence to support such fact. The question did not take into consideration the manner in which the defendant's truck whirled around, namely, whether the truck pivoted on its own rear wheels, and skidded only on the front wheels, or whether all four wheels skidded. The witness did not take into consideration the direction the truck moved after the impact (Tr. 262). The question did not take into consideration the nature of the surface of the ground over which the truck skidded. The question asked the witness to assume that the defendant's truck moved in a circular direction for 30 feet (Tr. 246), whereas the witness based his calculations on a total movement of 60

feet for the truck (Tr. 260). The question did not take into consideration whether the tire marks left by plaintiff's automobile resulted from a locked-wheels, or impending-skid phenomena, which is an important consideration. (See "Tire Dynamics" by Alfred J. White, pages 34, 35, and 38). The witness assumed that all four wheels were completely locked (Tr. 261), yet there is no evidence to support such fact. The question did not take into consideration whether the tires on plaintiff's car were natural rubber or synthetic rubber, which is important since the co-efficient of friction for both are not the same. (See "Tire Dynamics", supra, page 151). There are numerous other material factors which were omitted from the hypothetical question that should be mentioned; however, in the interest of brevity we shall not discuss them further.

Referring back to the Lingman case, supra, on page 462 of the Pacific Reports, this Court expressed some doubt as to whether the testimony in that case would be admissible if there was an unreliable personal equation for which the experts could not make allowance, such as skill of the drivers and their reactions in an emergency, in addition to the unknown speed of one or both of the cars where that was of controlling importance (Citing cases including Blashfield, Permanent Edition, Section 6312). It was then pointed out that those unpredictable factors were of no significance in that case under the hypothesis of the witness, since the skid marks of the pushed car showed only a direct sideward movement **with no twirling motion** of the car from which it could be inferred that the factors of human reaction **and momentum** were of no significance. We wish to emphasize the fact that in the Lingman case, supra, there was no twirling motion of the struck car, whereas

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