1957

Maude Cox Peterson v. Joseph Nielson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S POINTS I. AND II. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT THE SPEED OF THE PLAINTIFF'S CAR WAS IN EXCESS OF

60 MILES PER HOUR 75 TO 100 FEET NORTH OF THE POINT OF COLLISION; AND THAT SAID SPEED WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF, OR CONTRIBUTED TO THE CAUSE OF HER DAMAGES.

This case was tried by the court without a jury. It is a law case. There is conflict in the testimony of the plaintiff in itself as to the speed she was traveling. What she said about her speed in reference to the physical objects and that which she gave in figures, are two different things. The testimony of a witness taken on deposition, and introduced by plaintiff, challenges plaintiff's testimony. The testimony of witnesses Holbrook, Bartholomew, defendant, Dr. Christensen, and Etta Johnson, established plaintiff's speed was in excess of 60 miles an hour; and that said speed was the proximate cause of, or contributed to her damages.

The trial judge saw and heard all the witnesses and viewed the exhibits. He was personally familiar with the junction of the road, or the intersection where the collision occurred. In respect to the testimony of Dr. H. Reed Christensen, he conducted and did much of the examination, or directed its course.

A. Findings Are To Be Upheld.

Plaintiff refers four times to the case of *Alvarado vs. Tucker*, et al, 2 U. 2d 16, 260 P. 2d 986. The facts of that case are entirely different from this case. Twice referring to it on the question of speed, plaintiff states the findings * * * must be based on the preponderance of the evidence (app. B. pp. 7, 15).

Appellant challenges the findings of fact herein. On appeal the correct rule is not that the findings must be supported by the preponderance as to speed, or any other fact:

“Hence, if there is any competent evidence in the record to support the court’s findings the judgment should not be disturbed.”

Buckley v. Cox, 122 U. 151; 247 P. 2d 277.

This court also said:

“As this is a law action, the question is not whether the evidence would have supported the decision in favor of the appellants, but whether the decision made by the trial court finds support in the evidence. If there is competent credible evidence to support the findings made by the trial court, then those findings should stand.”

Jensen v. Gerrard et al, 85 U. 481; 39 P. 2d 1070.

In a case which was tried by the court, this court said:

“This is a case at law. It therefore follows that this appeal is upon questions of law alone. That being true the function of this court is not to pass upon the weight of the evidence, nor to determine conflicts therein, but to examine it solely for the purposes of determining whether or not the judgment finds substantial support in the evidence. In so examining the evidence all reasonable presumptions are in favor of the trial court’s findings and judgment, and the evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to them. If the findings and judgment are substan-

tially supported by the evidence, then the court may not disturb them.”

Sine v. Salt Lake Transp. Co. et al, 106 U. 289 at p. 294; 147 P. 2d 875.

B. Record To Be Viewed Favorably To Respondent.

How shall the record on appeal be read or considered by this court? Our supreme court has said that the record on appeal must be read in a light most favorable to the respondent. Since the trier of the facts found in respondent's favor, the evidence should so be viewed. *Lowder vs. Holley*, et al 120 U. 231; 233 P. 2d 360.

Our court has stated the rule thus:

“Thus we must view the evidence in its most favorable aspect to support the verdict which the jury has rendered and if from the evidence the jury could reasonably find facts necessary to sustain their verdict, it must be sustained. This is true, even though had we been the triers of the facts we would have found them differently, or even though we may not believe that the jury did in fact so find, or, even though we believe that such a finding would be against the great preponderance of the evidence.”

Horsley v. Robinson, et al., 112 U. 227; 186 P. 2d 592.

C. Competent Creditable Evidence Shows Speed Over 60 miles per hour; and such speed was the proximate cause of plaintiff's damages.

It is then a simple mathematical computation to calculate the speed of plaintiff's car which traveled 400 to 425 feet while one traveling 50 to 55 miles per hour

traveled approximately 225 to 300 feet. It only had to travel 1/10th to 1/5th farther than did the Holbrook car to have traveled in excess of 60 miles per hour. Using the mid figure between 225 and 300 feet or 262.5 feet of travel for the Holbrook car, and 400 feet for the plaintiff's car, plaintiff's car traveled 128.5 feet farther in the same time, or approximately half again as fast; or it was traveling an average of approximately 74 miles per hour during the last 400 feet before the crash.

There is another test of the evidence which reaches the same result. The defendant testified that he looked north and could see as far north as the two white posts (Nos. 3 and 4, Ex. 2), which was approximately 1000 feet; that he then looked south and saw a car approaching at about 600 feet; that he waited for that one to pass and then he proceeded to drive forward (Tr. 286). When the plaintiff testified that at approximately the two white posts "3" and "4" she saw Mr. Nielson (his truck) and applied her brakes (Tr. 62), she in substance told the court that at approximately 1000 feet she saw the defendant's truck entering the intersection. It is a reasonable deduction that was just after the defendant looked north and then looked south and saw a car approximately at 600 feet away. Then while the Holbrook car at 50 to 55 miles per hour traveled between 675 to 700 feet, plaintiff's car traveled 900 to 925 feet. Again taking the average figures of 687.5 feet and 912.5 feet, the plaintiff's car traveled 225 feet farther in the same time during the first half of which it was slowing down and the last half accelerating. Here we reach the result of

approximately one-fourth faster than the Holbrook car—62.5 to 68 miles per hour.

Is it strange that the computation of Dr. Christensen figured the speed of plaintiff's car to be approximately 70-71 miles per hour (Tr. 250, 259). By three different tests from the evidence approximately the same speed of the plaintiff's car is reached.

Plaintiff had a right to rely that no car would approach from the northward at any speed appreciably faster or a distance appreciably farther than the car coming from the south; and that if so approaching, plaintiff would still have been four to five hundred feet north of defendant when the car from the south passed, and when he began to move forward. At a speed of 60 miles or less, the plaintiff would have been able to stop her car within 251 feet at the time the danger appeared. In that event, she would have had between 150 and 250 additional feet in which to stop, if she had been traveling within the lawful rate of speed.

This court has upheld a lower court's judgment that the driver of a vehicle who looked 40 rods northwest of the intersection (660 feet) and saw no car within that distance was not negligent in failing to look again where the way was clear that far; and where the other driver was approaching at an excessive rate of speed.

“Had Ruth Holley exercised such reasonable and ordinary care the collision would not have occurred. Under such a state of facts Amasa Lowder's failure to see the truck could have in

no way contributed to the accident.”

Lowder v. Holley, et al, 120 U. 231; 233 P. 2d 350.

It was said by Justice Wolfe in his concurring opinion in *Poulsen vs. Manness*, et al 121 U. 269 at p. 275; 241 P. 2d 152:

“The plaintiff need only appraise the situation with regard to what the lawful rate of speed is upon the intersecting road.”

The same rule was again announced by Justice Crockett in *Martin vs. Stevens*, 121 U. 484 at p. 496; 243 P. 2d 747:

“He then looked to the east and saw no car within the extent of his vision, 150 to 200 feet. At that instant he was entitled to assume, absent anything to warn him to the contrary, that any car approaching from that direction would do so at a lawful rate of speed * * *.”

Plaintiff claims that the testimony of Wallace Tatton corroborated plaintiff’s testimony as to speed. Defendant denies this. Among other things said witness testified that the plaintiff passed him “approximately a half of a mile or a mile this side of Ephraim (south); that at the time of the collision he would say plaintiff was “about 8 blocks ahead of the witness.” Manti’s blocks are 429 feet without streets. Whether it was blocks or what is was, we couldn’t tell from the testimony. But he definitely testified that he could not tell at what speed plaintiff’s car proceeded ahead of him (Tr. 82).

Plaintiff claims it was the duty of the trial court to completely disregard the evidence of the witness,

Etta Johnson. Said witness went back to the scene of the collision. She pointed out the distances on the highway and helped Mr. Jensen measure them (Tr. 206, 210). There is no doubt her testimony was to the effect that the plaintiff's car was going a great deal faster than the Holbrook car, and she wanted her testimony to so show.

Said witness also misjudged the distance from the witness stand to a distant house, which she was asked to look at through the window. Judge Larsen also misjudged the distance. He judged it to be 250 feet (Tr. 208). Both said it was hard to judge from the Court Room (light in the courtroom, and venetian blinds at the windows through which both looked, made it difficult).

Dr. H. Reed Christensen testified: That he was graduated from the Brigham Young University with a major in Physics in 1926; that he received his master's degree in Physics in 1929 from the University of Chicago; that in 1940 he received his PhD. from Ohio State College in Philosophy and Physics; that he taught at Massachusetts Institute of Technology; that he did special work for the U. S. Government during the war in Physics from 1942 to 1946; that he presently was teaching Physics at Snow College and had been teaching Physics between 28 and 30 years (Tr. 240-41, 243).

He also testified that he was familiar with the junction of Highway 89 with the Shumway Road and the particular surface. He made an experiment as to the

abrasive character of the road or the co-efficient of friction on that type of road, and got the approximate value of 80 per cent when he dragged a rubber automobile tire thereon (Tr. 254, 257). This is what Exhibit 6 shows for same type of road.

Further he testified he considered the weight of the plaintiff's DeSoto and the weight of defendant's truck, with occupants (Tr. 250).

He computed how much energy would be used up by the co-efficient of friction at eight-tenths; and took the distance which the plaintiff's car slid before the impact, and after the impact, and what energy was used by the truck as it skidded; added them, and put it into the standard formula that gives the kinetic energy, and he came out with 63 miles per hour which the plaintiff's car was traveling at the point where the brake or tire skid marks started to show. This did not include the energy used in stopping the wheels until the skid marks showed (Tr. 249).

Likewise he computed the energy used according to a generally accepted standard of loss of energy where there isn't an elastic impact — such as where the cars stay together (using the actual weights of the cars with occupants). By that computation, the plaintiff's car would have been traveling 85 miles per hour. But when he used 60 per cent of the energy conserved (consumed) when the truck was struck and the cars were smashed up, he came out with a speed of plaintiff's car at 70 to 71 miles per hour (Tr. 249-50, 259).

He testified that he saw the plaintiff's car after the impact and before it was repaired; but he did not see the defendant's truck.

His computations were made on the basis of 41 feet of skid marks of the plaintiff's car before the impact and 56 feet after impact (Tr. 252); and using the defendant's witnesses figures of 45 feet before instead of 41 feet, and 63 feet instead of 56, he judged the speed of plaintiff's car was greater than 73 miles per hour (Tr. 258).

Much of the testimony given by Dr. Christensen was in answer to direct questions by the court. Objections to Dr. Christensen's testimony was primarily on the grounds that the questions did not include some of the facts which the appellant claims should be included. It has been written by some authorities that all the pertinent facts to an ultimate issue need not be included upon questions to an expert witness. (58 Am. Jur., Sec. 854, p. 483).

Our court has in the cases of *Martin v. Stevens*, 121 U. 484, 243 P. 2d 747; and in *Alvarado vs. Tucker, et al*, supra, approved the testimony of police officers as to the speed of an automobile from measured skid marks together with the use of charts showing the relationship between the speed and stopping distances. Other states which have similar situations have accepted the testimony of an expert on speed from the length of skid marks, *Linde et al v. Emmick*, 61 P. 2d 338 and cases cited therein. A situation not unlike the one at bar was considered by our court:

“Appellant’s objection to the so-called expert testimony of Dr. Castleton is not well taken. The opinions expressed by him were largely from his own observations and come more nearly being the answers of a skilled witness based upon what he observed than that of an expert based upon an assumed state of facts or facts in evidence adduced from other witnesses.”

Spackman v. Benefit Association of Railway Employees, 97 U. 91 at p. 96; 89 P. 2d 490.

The record shows the defendants had an engineer (Tr. 254) and they were able to make their own computations and to confound Dr. Christensen, if they could so do. Failing to so do on either cross examination or rebuttal, the court was entitled to take the evidence as reliable, substantial and competent.

No reference was made at any time in this case, prior to the appellant’s brief, to Andrew J. White’s “Tire Dynamics, First Edition.” It appears to be further refinement by experimentation of factors affecting tire marks on road surfaces in relation to the speed of the vehicle which laid them down. In a number of respects, it challenges accepted standards of this court as to the weight of the evidence of such marks. It is also hearsay. Since no opportunity was given the trial court or counsel to meet the same, defendant contends it should be disregarded as heresay; is a publication which may not properly be judicially noticed; and which is not properly before the court.

There has been much controversy about the effect of

Hickok vs. Skinner, 113 U. 1; 190 P. 2d 514. That controversy appears to arise from the fact that one who saw a car at a distance of 400 to 500 feet was held to be contributorily negligent for a collision which followed when he proceeded through the intersection without again looking. In this case, the appellant apparently contends that the plaintiff was close enough to constitute an immediate hazard within the meaning of our statute. A similar situation existed in said *Hickok vs. Skinner*. There the court said:

“Plaintiff’s evidence was that defendant was 400 to 500 feet back from the intersection traveling at a speed of 45 mph. If the distance was 400 feet, the defendant would have required approximately six seconds to reach the point of collision; if 500 feet away, approximately seven and one-half seconds. Under such facts defendant’s car could not be said to have been approaching so closely as to constitute an immediate hazard.”

Hickok v. Skinner, supra.

It is interesting to note that where the defendant was making a left hand turn across a through highway, and saw the plaintiff approaching in excess of 375 feet, that the plaintiff’s excessive speed was held to be a contributing cause of the accident; and said case was dismissed. *Walker vs. Peterson*, 3 U. 2d 54; 278 P. 2d 291.

We do not agree that the other authorities cited by the appellant in his brief are in point. In each and all of them, they involve facts materially different from those involved in the instant case. None of them involve

facts where the plaintiff saw the defendant enter the intersection 1,000 feet away, saw him slow down and stop for a car which was within 150 to 200 feet, or an immediate hazard; and then uphold plaintiff's attempt to bolt through the right of way which defendant had; and where he had pre-empted the intersection. We submit that is what plaintiff tried to do here; and that her speed proximately caused, or contributed to her damages.

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S POINTS III AND IV. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT THE SPEED OF THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT REASONABLE OR PRUDENT UNDER THE EXISTING CONDITIONS; THAT SHE DID NOT KEEP A PROPER LOOK-OUT; AND WAS IN OTHER RESPECTS, NEGLIGENT, WHICH PROXIMATELY CAUSED, OR CONTRIBUTED TO HER DAMAGE.

As part of this point defendant adopts the foregoing argument.

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